#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-1998

#### LOWER TRIBUNAL CASE NO. F95-019816

RORY ENRIQUE CONDE, Appellant, v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Gustavo J. García-Montes Florida Bar No. 986320 Registry Counsel 2333 Brickell Avenue - Suite A-1 Miami, FL 33129 Tel. (305) 666-2880 Fax (786) 662-3011 ggm@agmlawgroup.com Counsel For Appellant

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Circuit Court for the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Miami-Dade County, Florida, entered the judgments of convictions and death sentences at issue. On July 12, 1995, Mr. Conde was indicted with six counts of first degree Murder. R. 1. After extensive litigation on the issue, Mr. Conde's counts were severed. Mr. Conde went to trial on the murder case wherein the victim was Rhonda Dunn. A jury trial on one count resulted in a guilty verdict. On December 14<sup>th</sup>, 1999, the jury recommended a sentence of death by a vote of nine (9) to three

(3) on each count of murder. R. 1649. At issue during the trial was the fact that a critical

defense witness for mitigation, Chaplain Bizarro, was not discovered by the defense until the fourth day of the penalty phase. The court denied the defense request to allow the testimony of the witness. The Court followed the jury's recommendation and entered its sentencing order on March 24, 2000. R. 17251751. The Court sentenced Mr. Conde to death for the first-degree murder charge.

The Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Conde's conviction and sentence on direct appeal. *Conde v. State*, 860 So. 2d 930 (Fla. 2003). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on 04/05/2004.

1 The judgments and sentences under attack are as follows: Judgment of guilty for Count 6 (murder), sentence of death, life sentences for remaining balance.

On March 24<sup>th</sup>, 2005, Mr. Conde filed a motion to vacate judgment of conviction and sentence with special request for leave to amend (PCR. 68-95).

The Court held the *Huff* hearing on 10/12/2005, wherein it denied claim I, claim II and claim VI as being legally insufficient and procedurally barred. The court granted an evidentiary hearing. The hearings were held on August 31<sup>st</sup> and September 1<sup>st</sup>, 2007.

Subsequent to the hearings, Defendant filed his notice of appeal as the denial of his motion for post-conviction relief and the instant appeal ensued.

Appellant, Rory Conde, is currently a state prisoner incarcerated "on Death Row" at the Union Correctional Institution in Union County, Florida. His prison number is M25274.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS IN POST CONVICTION PROCEEDINGS

This case found its genesis in the year 1994 in Miami Dade County, when, during a period of five months, the bodies of six prostitutes were discovered on the side of a road. Since the road is known as Tamiami Trail, and the autopsy performed on the victim's bodies showed that they had been strangled and died of asphyxiation, the killer was named by the media the "Tamiami Strangler."

In June, 1995, Rory Conde was arrested after a woman was able to escape from his apartment. Evidence found at that scene lead investigators to suspect that Mr. Conde may be the culprit of the homicides.

After a lengthy interrogation, Mr. Conde admitted to the homicides. Moreover, DNA evidence linked him to the murders. On July 12, 1995, Mr. Conde was charged through indictment in Miami-Dade County with six counts of first-degree murder. (R1-1-4)

On or about August 15<sup>th</sup>, 1997, the parties were engaged in plea negotiations. An agreement was reached and accepted by Mr. Conde, whereby Mr. Conde would enter guilty pleas to the six homicides and associated charges arising from some other pending cases and would be sentenced to consecutive life sentences without the possibility of parole, sparing Mr. Conde from the death penalty. The state made the representation that the victims' families and the police agencies were either in agreement with the plea offer or had no objection. The plea offer was made by Mr. Laeser, the assigned assistant State Attorney, during a meeting with Judge Margolius and Jeffrey Fink, Esq.

At a later time, the assigned assistant state attorney had a change of heart.

Additionally, the families who did appear for a hearing became adamant that Mr. Conde

should receive the death penalty. (R 3,426). However, subsequent to that event, the fact that Mr. Conde had been willing to plea to a life sentence was made public in the media, causing injury to Mr. Conde's ability to complete a thorough mitigation analysis. Friends and coworkers of Mr. Conde, critical witnesses for mitigation, no longer wanted to be involved and, in fact, the Defense lost touch with several that had been up to then involved. Subsequent to this incident, Mr. Conde went to trial and was found guilty by a jury.

During the sentencing phase of Mr. Conde's trial, Mr. Conde presented the testimony of three primary experts: psychiatrist Dr. Fred Berlin, (v141-8808-75), neuropsychologist Dr. Charles Golden, (v142-8924-9005) and psychotherapist/social worker Olga Hervis. (v138-8486-8501; v140-8704). Dr. Berlin, who specializes in sexual disorders, testified that in his opinion Mr. Conde committed the murders while suffering from an incident of "major depression" with "despondency" and "agitation," linking his condition with chronic emotional and psychological childhood abuse, exacerbated by the dissolution of his marriage. (v141-8818-23, 8826-30). Dr. Golden agreed, adding that Mr. Conde's profile reflected severe childhood psychological trauma and was consistent with childhood sexual abuse. (v142-8954-5)

Olga Hervis's testimony concentrated on Mr. Conde's familial relationships. She testified that Mr. Conde disclosed that from age 6 to 12, on almost a daily basis, he was sexually molested by his uncles Carlos and Alfredo while living in Colombia (v140-8619-31).

Additionally, Mr. Conde's sister, Nellie, testified to their family life in Colombia. Mr. Conde's mother testified that the she and the father attempted to make a good home for her brother, and that their father never abused Rory. Approximately 15 other friends, neighbors, coworkers, and family members testified on Rory's behalf regarding more than 70 proffered mitigating circumstances. (R9-1701-5)

However, on the fourth day of the penalty phase proceedings, the defense proffered the testimony of Chaplain Bizarro. Chaplain Bizarro was the first person that Rory Conde came into contact after his arrest and protracted interrogation back in 1995. During this first meeting, just after his arrest, and well before meeting with any attorney, psychologist or social worker, Rory Conde bared his heart to Chaplain Bizarro and confided the sexual abuse he suffered as a child. (v140-8579-80 (proffer by counsel); v142-9014- 22 (proffered testimony of witness)). They claimed to have just discovered the existence of this witness. The importance of Chaplain Bizarro's testimony was critical not only to corroborate Mr. Conde's claim of childhood sexual abuse, but also to rebut the state's assertion that this claim was recently fabricated. (v135-7977). The jury never heard Mr. Conde's confession to Chaplain Bizarro. Inexplicably, the relevance of Chaplain Bizarro was not discovered.

During the evidentiary hearing held on this cause, the defense's first witness was Martha Galindo. Ms. Galindo is a friend of the Conde family for some 27 years. (R 846). Ms. Galindo was a frequent social visitor of Mr. Conde while he was detained at Metro-West. During these visits, Mr. Conde would often speak about Chaplain Bizarro. (R

848). In fact, Mr. Conde stated that he would speak with Bizarro almost every Saturday morning, before the social visits. As per Ms. Galindo's testimony, Chaplain Bizarro was a person of importance in Mr. Conde's life and he appeared calmer after speaking with Bizarro. Ms. Galindo encouraged Mr. Conde to speak with Chaplain Bizarro as to Mr. Conde's life, to open up to him and to talk to the Chaplain about the incidents that occurred and for which he was being charged. (R. 850). Ms. Galindo conveyed to Laura Blankman, the investigator working with the Defense, Mr. Conde's developing relationship with Chaplain Bizarro. (R 849). Ms. Galindo testified that she never met with Mr. Rafael Rodriguez nor with Mr. Jeffrey Fink, Appellant's mitigation and lead attorneys respectively. (R. 850). Ms. Galindo testified that after the aborted plea offer she was disillusioned with the case and the process. Prior to the incident where the plea offer, Ms. Galindo worked towards helping the Conde family and assisting with the critical task of locating witnesses. (R. 852). Subsequent to the incident regarding the plea, an event that was publicized in the newspaper, Ms. Galindo testified that "nobody wanted to know about the case." (R. 853). She herself stopped trying to locate or find witnesses, and "completely disconnected from the system." (R. 853). Ms. Galindo also stopped attempting to meet with Mr. Conde's attorneys. (R. 854). Ms. Galindo testified that she knew of the sexual molestation that Mr. Conde had suffered as a child and that the source of this information was Olga Hervis, the defense clinical social worker. (R. 855). Mr. Conde had not told Ms. Galindo of the abuse himself.

Ms. Jennie Carranza, Mr. Conde's sister, testified after Ms. Galindo. She corroborated the fact that Mr. Conde would speak of Chaplain Bizarro often, in fact, her recollection was that Mr. Conde would speak about Chaplain Bizarro each time they met. (R. 861). Jennie Carranza felt that Mr. Conde's relationship with the Chaplain had "turned his life around." (R. 862). Ms. Galindo stated that she met with "Laura," that the meeting lasted about half an hour, and she did not mention Chaplain Bizarro because she was not asked to do so and was not given any guidelines as to what to mention or topics to go into. (R. 865, 863). Ms. Carranza stated that she met with Mr. Rafael Rodriguez, Mr. Conde's mitigation attorney, once, in the courthouse, right before trial. (R. 864).

Nelly Conde ("Nelly") testified next. She is Mr. Conde's older sister. She met several times with Mr. Fink and Mr. Rodriguez. (R. 872). She was asked for a list of names of people to interview and she put the list together with the help of Ms. Galindo. (R. 873). Nelly stated that she met with Laura Blankman and Olga Hervis as well, several times with each. (R. 874). Nelly served as the conduit of information between Mr. Conde's family and the defense. (R. 874). Nelly stated that Mr. Conde would mention Chaplain Bizarro during each family visit to the Metro-West facility, during a pre-trial period that lasted years. (R. 876). Nelly met with Olga Hervis and Mr. Conde. During an interview, Mr. Conde admitted to the fact that he had been molested by his uncle, Carlos, while he was a child in Colombia. (R. 878). Afterwards, Mr. Conde told Ms. Hervis that he had disclosed this incident to Chaplain Bizarro. (R. 878). This information was later

conveyed to Laura Blankman before trial. (R. 879). Nelly gave the information as to the name of the Chaplain to Ms. Blankman during a meeting had at her house or at a restaurant before trial. (R. 880). Nelly testified that before the incident of the plea offer, friends and family would call to inquire as to the status of the case, but that stopped after the withdrawal of the plea. In fact, Nelly herself stopped gathering names and information for the defense, feeling that there was nothing else to be done. Nelly stated that neither Mr. Fink nor Mr. Rodriguez ever asked her whether her brother had any spiritual advisor or priest.

The balance of the fact patterns is offered pursuant to the parties' reconstruction of the testimony obtained during the hearing. The original of the transcript could not be obtained. As such, the reconstructed testimony is presented in its entirety.

On the second day of the evidentiary hearing, September 1, 2006, the State first called Jeffrey H. Fink. Mr. Fink testified that he was lead counsel for the Defendant at trial. Mr. Fink testified that he first learned of the existence of Chaplain Bizarro after the guilt phase, but probably before the penalty phase. Mr. Fink did not recall who alerted him to the existence of Chaplain Bizarro.

Mr. Fink did recall that he subpoenaed correctional officers from the Metro West Pretrial Detention facility on December 7, 1999, in an attempt to present evidence that the Defendant had behaved well during his pretrial incarceration. He had received the names of the officers to subpoena from either the Defendant or Laura Blankman.

Ms. Blankman was a mitigation specialist with Roy Matthews and Associates. She had been employed by counsel to gather records concerning Defendant and assist in formulating a penalty phase defense.

On December 8, 1999, which was during the penalty phase of the trial, Chaplain Bizarro appeared in response to the subpoena. Mr. Fink first met with Chaplain Bizarro outside of the courtroom. Chaplain Bizarro told Mr. Fink that the Defendant had revealed, very early on in his relationship with Chaplain Bizarro, that Defendant had been sexually abused as a child.

Mr. Fink stated that he had focused his investigation on whether the Defendant had been sexually abused as a young person early in his representation of the Defendant. He did so even though the Defendant initially denied such victimization. The defense attorneys, Ms. Blankman and Dr. Golden had always believed that there had to be something such as childhood sexual abuse that led him to commit these crimes. To further this investigation, Mr. Fink retained Dr. Fred Berlin because of his excellent credentials and his specialization in sex crimes cases. He did not tell Dr. Berlin his defense theory. Instead, he asked Dr. Berlin look for what was in the Defendant's psyche that may have led him to commit the crimes. Mr. Fink also had Ms. Blankman and psychotherapist/social worker, Olga Hervis, interview the Defendant, together and extensively.

Within a day or two of November 30, 1999, Defendant finally admitted to Ms. Hervis that he had been abused. Ms. Hervis then informed Ms. Blankman, who in turn

informed Mr. Fink. This was the first time that the Defendant or anyone else had provided factual support for a claim that he had been abused.

Prior to this revelation, all of the information the defense had regarding sexual abuse merely showed that it was possible that Defendant may have been abused.

Dr. Berlin's testimony was focused on showing that the Defendant suffered from a condition that led to his situation. However, the Defendant's lack of a history of sexual deviancy prior to the crime was contrary to the norm. Dr. Berlin opined that the Defendant was suffering from severe depression and that the depression may have resulted from sexual abuse in childhood.

If the Defendant had admitted to being sexually abused years before trial, Mr. Fink would have provided information about the abuse to Dr. Golden, Dr. Berlin, Ms. Hervis, and others at time of the disclosure.

On cross-examination, Mr. Fink confirmed that he always suspected that Defendant had been sexually molested as a child. He had this suspicion because he did not believe that the Defendant had the character to kill in cold blood.

However, Mr. Fink had difficulty in obtaining evidence of the Defendant's background. Defendant was from the nation of Colombia. The State Department had issued a warning about traveling to Columbia. Moreover, many of Defendant's family members had moved, died, or had otherwise become unavailable. Additionally, one family member was controlling the contact with the other family members and friends, and many

of the family members and friends were fearful of the Defendant's abuser, his uncle Carlos de Andres. However, the Defendant's wife's family, particularly Defendant's father-in-law, was very cooperative.

In addition, Mr. Fink found that it is difficult to probe psychological issues that people do not want to disclose. People do not disclose their dark secrets to people they do not trust. Moreover, there was a cultural barrier to having the Defendant reveal that he was sexually abused. In an attempt to overcome these obstacles, Mr. Fink retained Ms. Blankman because she was trained to deal with people, people liked her, and people would open up to her.

Mr. Fink acknowledged that it is imperative to speak with a defendant's spiritual advisor in developing mitigation if the attorney becomes aware that the defendant was speaking to a spiritual advisor. Mr. Fink spoke with and wrote the Defendant at least six times a year. He did not recall the Defendant wearing a cross, and was unsure if he ever saw the Defendant carrying a Bible. He was not sure if he asked the Defendant if he was seeking spiritual advice but his notes did not reflect such a question.

Chaplain Bizarro was not a layperson. He was ordained or, at least, had some religious training. As a result, Chaplain Bizarro refused to speak to Mr. Fink until the Defendant consented to him doing so.

Mr. Fink stated that his main contact with the Defendant's family was through Defendant's sister, Nellie. Mr. Fink met with Nellie frequently. Mr. Fink did not recall

asking Nellie, Jenny Conde, or Martha Galindez, who was assisting Nellie, about the identity of the Defendant's priest. However, both Mr. Fink and Ms. Blankman did speak to the family at length about the identity of any confidant of the Defendant.

The Defendant then attempted to ask Mr. Fink about an incident concerning a plea offer. The State objected that the question was beyond the scope. The trial court sustained the objection.

On redirect examination, Mr. Fink stated that he believed that his secretary probably informed Chaplain Bizarro of why he was being called as a witness. Mr. Fink did recall that Chaplain Bizarro indicated that he needed the Defendant's permission before relating anything that the Defendant had told him (believing it to be privileged). After reviewing Chaplain Bizarro's testimony about his interaction with counsel and the Defendant from page 9020 of the trial transcript, Mr. Fink stated that there was a time period between when he learned of the existence of Chaplain Bizarro and when Chaplain Bizarro agreed to speak to Mr. Fink.

After Mr. Fink's testimony was complete, the State next called J. Rafael Rodriguez, Defendant's other trial counsel. Mr. Rodriguez testified that he and Mr. Fink worked hand in hand on both phases of the trial.

Mr. Rodriguez, who is fluent in Spanish, also stated that he received a list of the Defendant's family members in Colombia from the Defendant's sister, Nellie.

During the summer of 1999, Mr. Rodriguez traveled to Baranquilla, Colombia with Laura

Blankman, who was not fluent in Spanish, and spent five days interviewing family members. At that time, Colombia was in the midst of a guerilla war. As a result of the fighting, Mr. Rodriguez and Ms. Blankman remained at a hotel in Barranquilla to meet with the family members. The ability to interview the family about sexual abuse was further complicated by the fact that the family members were poor and looked to the Defendant's uncle (the alleged abuser) for financial support. The Defendant's uncle had recently won the Colombian lottery. This lack of finances also prevented the defense from presenting the family members' live testimony at the penalty phase, as did the family members' lack of the visas necessary to travel to the United States.

In addition to the information gathered by Mr. Rodriguez and Ms. Blankman in Colombia, Olga Hervis, a family systems analyst, was retained. Ms. Hervis received family information for Colombia and made additional calls to the family there. Ms. Hervis was assisted by Ms. Zapata, a psychologist and the sister-in-law of Carlos Andres. Mr. Rodriguez believed that someone had spoken to all the relevant family members in an attempt to get background information about the Defendant.

Mr. Rodriguez claimed to have first learned of the existence of Chaplain Bizarro during the actual conduct of the trial of the penalty phase. A few weeks before the penalty phase began, Mr. Fink sent Ms. Blankman to the jail to interview witnesses who could provide information relevant to the Defendant's lack of future dangerousness while incarcerated. Ms. Blankman had reported that she had run into Chaplain Bizarro during

this visit and that Chaplain Bizarro had stated that he had very good information about the Defendant. Chaplain Bizarro told Ms. Blankman that he had spoken to the Defendant approximately six months after the Defendant's arrest and that the Defendant had admitted to Chaplain Bizarro that he had been the victim of sexual abuse.

The Defendant had also admitted sexual abuse to Ms. Hervis, however, this admission only occurred immediately before the penalty phase. Ms. Hervis had previously had several sessions with the Defendant before he broke down and admitted that his Uncle Carlos had sexually abused him.

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