## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-1998

RORY ENRIQUE CONDE,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,
CRIMINAL DIVISION

## BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL MCCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0012068

LISA A. DAVIS
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 672904
Office of the Attorney General
Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
PH. (305) 377-5441
FAX (305) 377-5655

#

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The lower court properly denied the claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to comments in closing. The claim is procedurally barred and meritless and Defendant failed to prove the claim after being given an evidentiary hearing on it.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the testimony of Manual Alvarez. The proffered subject of the testimony would have concerned an issue of law and would not have aided the trier of fact.

The lower court properly denied the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase after an evidentiary hearing. The lower court's findings of fact are support by competent, substantial evidence and it properly applied the law to those facts.

The lower court properly denied the claim regarding the plea offer. The claim is procedurally barred, insufficiently plead, refuted by the record, unproven, and without merit as a matter of law. The Ring claim was properly denied as procedurally barred and meritless.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE CLAIM THAT COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO OBJECT TO COMMENTS DURING THE STATE'S CLOSING ARGUMENT.

Defendant first asserts that the lower court erred in denying his claim that his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to comments in closing. Defendant claims that the prosecutor's comments disparaged defense counsel and the defense theory. Defendant argues only a portion of the claim made below, based on those comments that were not specifically raised on direct appeal. Therefore, to the extent Defendant has not briefed his arguments regarding other comments in closing, he has waived review of the trial court's ruling. See Anderson v. State, 822 So. 2d 1261, 1268 (Fla. 2002).

Here, the lower court denied this claim after an evidentiary hearing, stating:

Defendant alleges counsel was ineffective by failing to object to numerous comments made by the prosecutor during closing arguments. At the evidentiary hearing, counsel for Defendant stated that he was standing on his motion on this issue.

The Florida Supreme Court reviewed the arguments for fundamental error and concluded that no fundamental error occurred. *Conde*, 860 So. 2d at 950. As such, Defendant cannot show prejudice pursuant to *Strickland*, supra.

This claim is denied.

(PCR. 782)

This claim was properly summarily denied as it procedurally barred. This Court has repeatedly held that where a claim was raised and decided on direct appeal, it cannot be re-litigated in a post conviction proceeding again under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel. Lugo v. State, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S824, S829-30 (Fla. Oct. 8, 2008); Preston v. State, 970 So. 2d 789, 805 (Fla. 2007); Franqui v. State, 965 So. 2d 22, 35 (Fla. 2007); Miller v. State, 926 So. 2d 1243 (Fla. 2006); Freeman v. State, 761 So. 2d 1055, 1067 2000). In fact, in Robinson v. State, 707 So. 2d 688, 697-99 (Fla. 1998), this Court directly held that claims regarding the propriety of comments in closing and the effective assistance of counsel for failing to object to comments in closing to be procedurally barred "[a]s a matter of law." Moreover, this Court has held that relying on different grounds or arguments regarding an issue that was raised and rejected as a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel does not lift the bar. Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1991); see also Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995); Turner v. Dugger, 614 So. 2d 1075, 1077 (1992).

Here, Defendant raised the issue of the propriety of comments in closing on direct appeal. (Initial Brief, SC00-789,

at 57) While Defendant pointed to other comments, he alleged the same impropriety regarding the comments, that the comments were improper attacks on the defense, specifically that the defense was trying to lead the jury down a different road. This Court rejected the argument, specifically finding:

[Defendant] argues error in the . . . prosecutor's alleged personal attacks on defense counsel. . . . [W]e find that the essential premise of the prosecutor's argument, that the defense's focus on certain issues was designed to lead the jury down the wrong road, was not improper. See Rimmer v. State, 825 So.2d 304, 324 n. 16 (Fla.), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 1034, 123 S. Ct. 567, 154 L. Ed. 2d 453 (2002).

Conde, 860 So. 2d at 950 n.12. As the propriety of the prosecutor's comments that Defendant was leading the jury down the wrong road was raised and rejected on direct appeal based on the "essential premise" of the prosecutor's whole argument, the lower court properly determined that Defendant's present claim is barred and that raising the claim in the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel relying on different comments did not lift the bar. (PCR. 782) It should be affirmed.

Moreover, to the extent Defendant argues this claim as if it were an appeal from a summary denial, this is not true. At the *Huff* hearing, the lower court granted an evidentiary hearing. (PCR. 817) The lower court then proceeded with the

The comments raised on direct appeal dealt with references to two cross examinations and comments regarding the DNA evidence. (Initial Brief, SC00-789 at 57)

evidentiary hearing it had ordered. (PCR. 826) However, during his opening statement, Defendant indicated that he was standing on his motion. (PCR. 842-43) The lower court denied this claim partially based on this refusal and the resultant failure by Defendant to carry his burden of proof. (PCR. 782) The order denying the motion explains that Defendant refused to present evidence and chose to stand on his pleadings at the evidentiary hearing. (PCR. 782) Under these circumstances, it cannot be said that the claim was summarily denied. See Owen v. State, 773 So. 2d 510, 513-14 (Fla. 2000).

Furthermore, denying this claim because Defendant refused to proceed with an ordered evidentiary hearing is entirely proper. This Court has held that defendants bear the burden of proof at post conviction hearing and that they must present evidence beyond mere speculation to carry that burden. Maharaj v. State, 778 So. 2d 944, 951 (Fla. 2000); Smith v. State, 445 So. 2d 323, 325 (Fla. 1983). In Owen, this Court held that a defendant who refuses to proceed and present evidence at an ordered evidentiary hearing waives the claims for relief upon which an evidentiary hearing was ordered. 773 So. 2d at 513-14; see also Ferrell v. State, 918 So. 2d 163, 173-74 (Fla. 2005). Here, the lower court granted Defendant an evidentiary hearing on Claim III. Defendant declined to present evidence at the

evidentiary hearing and chose to stand on his pleading. (PCR> 842-43) As such, he did not carry his burden of proof and waived this claim. The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

Additionally, the claim was properly denied because the claim is meritless. Counsel is not deficient where the comments made were not objectionable. *Jones v. State*, 949 So. 2d 1021, 1031-32 (Fla. 2006). Furthermore, comments that do not constitute reversible error cannot establish the prejudice necessary to demonstrate an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. *Lugo*, 33 Fla. L. Weekly at S829.

The first comment came after the prosecutor's repetition of the defense's request that the jury "do the right thing" by rendering a true verdict and fully stated: "At the beginning of this case you took an oath. You may not remember the words in it, but it was to render a true verdict according to the law and the evidence. It didn't say render a true verdict according to some theory or some plan or something the lawyers come up with, just the law that the Judge is going to tell you at the end of the case and the evidence." (T. 7766-67) Thereafter, the prosecutor explained that the evidence was the testimony and exhibits admitted during the case. (T. 7767) This is a completely proper explanation that the jury's duty is to follow the law provided by the judge and apply it to the evidence

presented to them during the trial. See Smith v. State, 699 So. 2d 629, 235-36 (Fla. 1997) (competent juror standard is to follow law and apply it to the facts).

The second comment was also an appropriate argument to the jury that it should focus on the evidence presented and issues to be decided in the case. After explaining that the State's purpose was to drive reasonable doubt from the jurors' minds, the prosecutor commented that the jurors deliberate as to whether something was said by the lawyers or was said by the witness and whether it was said to help them make a decision or to "distract [them] from the true issues in this case." (T. 7769) This argument was proper response to the cross examinations conducted and the arguments previously made by Defendant wherein Defendant attempted to impeach the State's witnesses and argue about the mistakes made by the police, medical examiners and forensics, and arguments that the evidence was not credible. See Pace v. State, 854 So. 2d 167, 179 (Fla. 2003); Garcia v. State, 644 So. 2d 59, 62-63 (Fla. 1994).

The third comment regarded how the issue being decided in the case was who killed Rhonda Dunn, and not the quality of the witnesses or whether the police did a good or lousy job investigating the case, wherein the prosecutor argued that nothing Defendant presented had anything to do with who killed

Rhonda Dunn. (T. 7816) This was appropriate reply to Defendant's arguments as stated previously. *Pace*, 854 So. 2d at 179; *Garcia*, 644 So. 2d at 62-63. Likewise, it was appropriate commentary regarding the attempts to steer the jury away from the real issue it had to decide. *Conde*, 860 So. 2d at 950 n.12.

Finally, the comment regarding an attorney's ability to change white to black was appropriate analogy regarding Defendant's attempts to get the jury to not examine the real issues in the case. (T. 7820-21) The prosecutor was asking the jury to focus on the issues and determinations it was going to be making; not Defendant's attempts to distract them from the real issues. Rimmer v. State, 825 So. 2d 304, 324 n.16 (Fla. 2002); White v. State, 377 So. 2d 1149, 1150 (Fla. 1979) ("[i]t is proper for a prosecutor in closing argument to refer to the evidence as it exists before the jury and to point out that there is an absence of evidence on a certain issue").

Accordingly, the comments were completely appropriate argument regarding Defendant's attempts to steer the jury down the wrong path and the jury's true duty in deciding the case, as this Court previously acknowledged. *Conde*, 860 So. 2d at 950 n.12. As such, the lower court properly determined that counsel was not ineffective for failing to make nonmeritorious objections that the comments were improper. *Kokal v. Dugger*,

718 So. 2d 138 (Fla. 1998)(counsel not ineffective for failing to raise meritless issue); Groover v. Singletary, 656 So. 2d 424 (Fla. 1995); Hildwin v. Dugger, 654 So. 2d 107 (Fla.), cert. denied, 516 U.S. 965 (1995); Breedlove v. Singletary, 595 So. 2d 8, 11 (Fla. 1992). This Court should affirm.

# II. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN EXCLUDING THE TESTIMONY OF AN EXPERT ON INEFFECTIVE ASSITANCE OF COUNSEL.

Defendant next asserts that the lower court abused its discretion in excluding the proposed testimony of Manuel Alvarez. The trial court did not abuse its discretion<sup>5</sup> because Mr. Alvarez's testimony invaded the province of the court and would not have added the finder of fact.

The aid of an expert is only appropriate when a trial court determines that the subject is beyond the common understanding of the fact-finder and that the testimony will aid the fact-finder in rendering a decision. § 90.702, Fla. Stat. (2004); Jones v. State, 748 So. 2d 1012 (Fla. 1999). "The question of whether a strategy or tactic is reasonable on a post conviction relief proceeding is decided by the trial court as an issue of law." Casey v. State, 969 So. 2d 1055, 1058 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007); see also Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 690 (1984). Therefore, where a defendant seeks to proffer an expert opinion regarding whether trial coursel rendered ineffective assistance - the trial court properly prevents such testimony. Casey, 969 So. 2d at 1058. The testimony would not assist the trial court in any way as the inquiry "is a question of law to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> A trial court's decision regarding the admissibility of evidence is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Ray v. State*, 755 So. 2d 604, 610 (Fla. 2000); *Zack v. State*, 753 So. 2d 9, 25 (Fla. 2000).

be decided by the . . . court" and is not one determined by the live testimony of an expert. *Id*. (quoting *Provenzano v*. *Singletary*, 148 F.3d 1327, 1331-32 (11th Cir. 1998)); see also *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690.

In Casey, the Fourth District Court of Appeals of Florida determined that the trial court's exclusion of the defendant's proffered expert on his trial counsel's ineffectiveness was proper. 969 So. 2d at 1058-59. There, the court recognized that the Strickland reasonableness prong does not require expert opinion, finding that "[t]estimony is not required as to whether the actions taken [by trial counsel] were 'reasonable,' as this is a matter of law to be made by the judge after consideration of the factual testimony." Id. at 1059.

An expert opinion that professional norms exist and that trial counsel's actions fell below those standards of effective representation conflicts with the trial court's mixed decision. In Freund v. Butterworth, 165 F.3d 839, 863 n.34 (11th Cir. 1999), the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit stated, "[p]ermitting 'expert' testimony to establish ineffective assistance is inconsistent with our recognition that the issue involved is a mixed question of law and fact that the court decides." Specifically, the expert witness in Freund "opined that the law firm's representation of [defendant] fell

below the constitutional standard of effective representation because it presented conflicts of interest with the law firm's prior representations of [the co-defendants]." Id. at 857. Likewise, in McCarver v. Lee, 221 F.3d 583, 598 (4th Cir. 2000), in upholding the district court's denial of an evidentiary hearing, the U.S Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit stated that the defendant "has not explicated how the testimony of a 'legal expert' assessing trial counsel's performance would aid a federal court in this particular case in making the legal determination whether trial counsel constitutionally was ineffective."

The Second District Court of Appeal of Florida has also found that the testimony of an expert to explain Florida law is inappropriate:

[t]his court has repeatedly held that "opinion testimony as to the legal interpretation of Florida law is not a proper subject of expert testimony." See, e.g., Brophy v. Condon (In re Estate of Williams), 771 So.2d 7, 8 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000). Construction of language in a deed "is a legal determination to be made by the trial judge, with the assistance of counsels' legal arguments, not by way of 'expert opinion.' "See Lee County v. Barnett Banks, Inc., 711 So.2d 34, 34 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997) (discussing expert opinion about statutory construction).

Hann v. Balogh, 920 So.2d 1250, 1251-1252 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006).

Several other states uphold the trial court's decision not to allow the testimony of a legal expert on ineffectiveness. Commonwealth v. Peterkin, 513 A.2d 373 (Pa. 1986); see also Clemmons v. State, 785 S.W.2d 524 (Mo. 1990) (upholding lower court's exclusion of expert attorney testimony); State v. Ohler, 366 N.W.2d 771 (Neb. 1985) (holding not error for lower court to exclude expert testimony on ineffectiveness); Lytle v. Jordan, 22 P.3d 666 (N.M. 2001) (stating it is superfluous for expert to advise court on application of law on ultimate issue of effectiveness); State v. Moore, 641 A.2d 268 (N.J. Super. Ct. 1994) (upholding denial of evidentiary hearing where the only proffered evidence was testimony of expert attorney witness).

Here, Defendant sought to present Mr. Alvarez for the sole purpose of identifying actions of Defendant's trial counsel that would be shown to be outside professional norms. (PCR-SR. 11) Defendant presently clarifies the specific purpose of Alvarez's testimony: to explain that not discovering Chaplain Bizarro was unreasonable. Mr. Alvarez's testimony pointing out opinion regarding how Defendant's trial counsel deficient would not have aided the trial court in understanding the factual evidence and would have encroached into the lower court's legal analysis under Strickland. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690; Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1033-35 (Fla. 1999)

(explaining factual evidence required to prove ineffectiveness claim); Casey, 969 So. 2d at 1058. As such, Mr. Alvarez's testimony was properly excluded.

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